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I. statement

1. On November 17, 2008, Staff of the Colorado Public Utilities Commission (Staff) served Civil Penalty Assessment Notice (CPAN) No. 89649 (see, Exhibit No. 1) on Mr. Jamal Ross, president of Sleek & Unique Luxury Limousine, Inc. (Respondent).  Respondent was served with the CPAN by certified mail, return receipt requested.

2. Staff charged Respondent with one violation on September 29, 2008 of 4 Code of Colorado Regulations (CCR) 723-6-6102 and 49 Code of Federal Regulations (CFR) 396.11(a), for failure to prepare driver vehicle inspection reports; two violations on October 4, 2008, one violation for failure to prepare driver vehicle inspection reports 4 CCR 723-6-6102, and 49 CFR 396.11(a), as well as one violation for failure to have vehicles periodically inspected under 4 CCR 723-6-6102 and 49 CFR 396.11(a); and, three violations on November 6, 2008 of 4 CCR 723-6-6102 and 49 CFR 396.3(b)(2), for failure to create and maintain a preventative maintenance agreement.  The total penalty sought, including a 15 percent penalty surcharge pursuant to § 24-34-108, C.R.S., is $3,277.50.

3. This matter was set for hearing on January 29, 2008 at 9:00 a.m. in a Commission Hearing Room in Denver, Colorado.  At the assigned place and time the undersigned Administrative Law Judge (ALJ) called the matter for hearing.  Respondent failed to appear at the hearing.  During the course of the hearing, testimony was received from Investigator John Opeka, a Criminal Investigator with the Colorado Public Utilities Commission.  Exhibits 1 through 5 were identified, offered, and admitted into evidence.  At the conclusion of the hearing, the undersigned ALJ took the matter under advisement.

4. Pursuant to § 40-6-109, C.R.S., the ALJ hereby transmits to the Commission the record of this proceeding, a written recommended decision containing findings of fact and conclusions of law, and a recommended order.

II. FINDINGS OF FACT

5. According to the testimony of Investigator Opeka, as part of its risk-based reviews regarding luxury limousine carriers, Staff regularly determines which carriers to schedule for a safety and compliance review, based on the amount of time that has elapsed since the last review.  Because significant time had elapsed since its last review, Staff determined that Sleek & Unique Limousine Service was in line in the regular rotation to be scheduled for a safety and compliance audit.

6. As part of that audit, Staff generally reviews a luxury limousine’s records regarding driver qualification files, hours of service, vehicle maintenance records and vehicle inspection records.  

7. Investigator Opeka testified that on November 6, 2008, such a safety and compliance review was conducted on Respondent.  The audit revealed that Respondent failed to keep much of the paperwork required by the Commission.  Respondent’s failure to maintain various paperwork is summarized in Staff’s Transportation Safety and Compliance Review Final Report (Final Report) (see, Exhibit No. 3) compiled by Investigator Opeka and provided to Respondent.  In total, Investigator Opeka recorded 14 separate violations, which comprise the violations indicated in CPAN No. 89649, issued to Respondent.  

8. Several of the violations noted in Exhibit No. 3 are encompassed in the CPAN.  For example, CPAN violations 1 through 3 correspond with the critical violations listed in the Final Report as Violation No. 12.  Those violations pursuant to 49 CFR 396.3(b)(2) are failure to create and maintain a preventative maintenance plan.  CPAN violations 4 and 5 correspond with critical violations listed as Violation No. 13 in the Final Report, which are violations of 49 CFR 396.11(a), failure to prepare driver vehicle inspection reports.  Finally, CPAN violation 6 corresponds to the critical violation listed as Violation No. 14 in the Final Report, which is a violation of 49 CFR 396.17(a), failure to have vehicles periodically inspected.  

9. Investigator Opeka further testified that when he conducted his audit on November 6, 2008, he spoke with Mr. Jamal Ross, who identified himself as the president of Sleek & Unique Limousine.  Investigator Opeka testified that during the course of his investigation and interview, Mr. Ross represented that the carrier owned the vehicles that were the object of the investigation and those vehicles were under Respondent’s control for 30 consecutive days prior to the violations in question.  

10. In the regular course of his duties, Investigator Opeka testified that he prepared what is known as a Safety & Compliance Review Summary Report (Recap Report) which was provided to the Respondent at the end of the audit (See, Exhibit No. 4).  The report indicates that the violations noted by the Investigator Opeka as part of the audit.  Exhibit No. 4 indicates that Mr. Ross signed the document on November 6, 2008, acknowledging that he received a copy of the Recap Report and that the violations listed on that report were explained to him.  

III. findings and conclusions of law
11. Respondent failed to appear at the hearing to offer testimony or evidence on his behalf.  Staff provided the only testimony and evidence in this matter.  The evidence demonstrates that Respondent not only failed to maintain proper records on his vehicles and drivers, but that several of the violations were repeat violations from 2006.  For example, the evidence shows that on May 9, 2006, Staff found that Respondent violated 49 CFR 396.3(b)(2) by failing to maintain various inspection and maintenance records for his vehicles.  Respondent was cited in the CPAN at issue here for those same violations as indicated in Violation Nos. 1 through 3 of CPAN No. 89649.  Respondent also violated 49 CFR 396.11(a) in May 2006 for failing to require drivers to prepare vehicle inspection reports.  Respondent was again cited in the CPAN at issue here for those same violations as indicated in Violation Nos. 4 and 5.  Respondent also violated 49 CFR 396.17(a) in May 2006 for failing to have its vehicles periodically inspected.  Respondent was again cited for that violation in the CPAN at issue here as Violation No. 6.

12. Pursuant to Commission Rule 4 CCR 723-1-1302(b):

The Commission may impose a civil penalty … in a contested proceeding … after considering evidence concerning some or all of the following factors:

i. The nature, circumstances, and gravity of the violation;

ii. The degree of the respondent’s culpability;

iii. The respondent’s history of prior offenses;

iv. The respondent’s ability to pay;

v. Any good faith efforts by the respondent in attempting to achieve compliance and to prevent future similar violations;

vi. The effect on the respondent’s ability to continue in business;

vii. The size of the business of the respondent; and

viii. Such other factors as equity and fairness may require.

13. Commission Rule 4 CCR 723-6-6102 incorporates by reference as relevant here, Federal regulations 49 CFR 396.3(b)(2), 396.11(a) and 396.17(a), which Respondent is accused of violating as indicated in the CPAN.  

14. Respondent’s failure to maintain proper records as indicated above placed his passengers and the public at needless risk.  Based on the testimony of Investigator Opeka, Mr. Ross was or should have been aware of his responsibilities to prepare and maintain proper records but failed to do so.  Despite Respondent’s violations of 49 CFR 396.3(b)(2), 396.11(a), and 396.17(a) in 2006, Respondent in 2008 once again violated those same regulations.  Based on the evidence and testimony received, it appears that Respondent fails to grasp the gravity of his actions.  Respondent is clearly culpable.

15. The undersigned ALJ also harbors concerns regarding Respondent’s future compliance with Commission regulations given that Respondent continues to ignore recordkeeping requirements.  It would appear that Respondent has little regard for Commission regulations related to public safety.  

16. These are all factors in aggravation.  No factors in mitigation can be discerned from the record.  It is apparent Respondent fails to grasp the importance of maintaining proper records or the gravity of his actions.  He has obviously made no effort to achieve compliance in any manner whatsoever.  Respondent’s disregard for maintaining a transparent operation is troublesome to say the least.  

17. Having considered all of the above, the ALJ assesses a civil penalty in the amount of $3,277.50, as recommended by Staff.  The penalty, indicated on the CPAN, is determined as follows.  For each violation of failure to create and maintain a preventative maintenance plan as required pursuant to 49 CFR 396.3(b)(2), as incorporated by Commission Rule 4 CCR 723-6-6102, the penalty is $250 plus a 15 percent penalty surcharge as provided under § 24-34-108, C.R.S., for a penalty of $287.50 – times three violations equals $862.50.  For each violation of failure to prepare driver vehicle inspection reports as required pursuant to 49 CFR 396.11(a) as incorporated by Commission Rule 4 CCR 723-6-6102, the penalty is $500 plus a 15 percent penalty surcharge as provided under § 24-34-108, C.R.S., for a penalty of $575 – times two violations equals $1,150.  For the violation of failure to have vehicles periodically inspected pursuant to 49 CFR 396.17(a) as incorporated by Commission Rule 4 CCR 723-6-6102, the penalty is $1,100 plus a 15 percent penalty surcharge as provided under § 24-34-108, C.R.S., for a penalty of $1,265.00.  Therefore, the total penalty for CPAN No. 89649 is $3,277.50.  Given the disregard by Respondent for the regulatory requirements, the undersigned ALJ finds this amount appropriate to serve as a deterrent to the violations indicated in the CPAN.  

18. In accordance with § 40-6-109, C.R.S., it is recommended that the Commission enter the following order.
IV. ORDER

A. The Commission Orders That:

1. Sleek & Unique Luxury Limousine, Inc. is assessed a civil penalty assessment of $3,277.50.

2. Sleek & Unique Luxury Limousine, Inc. shall remit to the Colorado Public Utilities Commission a civil penalty in the amount of $3,277.50 within 30 days of the effective date of this Decision.

3. This Recommended Decision shall be effective on the day it becomes the Decision of the Commission, if that is the case, and is entered as of the date above.  

4. As provided by § 40-6-109, C.R.S., copies of this Recommended Decision shall be served upon the parties, who may file exceptions to it.

If no exceptions are filed within 20 days after service, or within any extended period of time authorized, or unless the decision is stayed by the Commission upon its own motion, the recommended decision shall become the decision of the Commission and subject to the provisions of § 40-6-114, C.R.S.

If a party seeks to amend, modify, annul, or reverse basic findings of fact in its exceptions, that party must request and pay for a transcript to be filed, or the parties may stipulate to portions of the transcript according to the procedure stated in § 40-6-113, C.R.S.  If no transcript or stipulation is filed, the Commission is bound by the facts set out by the administrative law judge and the parties cannot challenge these facts.  This will limit what the Commission can review if exceptions are filed.

5. If exceptions to this Decision are filed, they shall not exceed 30 pages in length, unless the Commission for good cause shown permits this limit to be exceeded.
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Doug Dean, 
Director
	THE PUBLIC UTILITIES COMMISSION
OF THE STATE OF COLORADO


PAUL C. GOMEZ
______________________________

Administrative Law Judge
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